RECEIVED

Nov 25 2025

S.C. SUPREME COURT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to the Court of Appeals
Appeal from Florence County
The Honorable D. Craig Brown, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No: 2025-001214

THE STATE,

Petitioner,

v.

QUINTERRIS JAVON CARMICHAEL,

Respondent.

BRIEF OF PETITIONER

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

W. JOSEPH MAYE
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 100851

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, S.C. 29211-1549
(803) 734-6305

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Quinterris Javon Carmichael (hereinafter “Respondent”) was indicted at the May 6, 2021, term of the Florence County grand jury for murder (2021-GS-21-00472) and possession of a weapon during a violent crime (2021-GS-21-00473). Respondent and co-defendant, Tirik Jacquan Johnson-Epps (hereinafter “Johnson-Epps”), were tried from January 23-27, 2023, before the Honorable D. Craig Brown, and a jury. Respondent was represented by William “Josh” Edgeworth, III. Gregory Ammons represented co-defendant Johnson-Epps. Assistant Solicitor J. Ryan White prosecuted the case on behalf of the State.

On January 27, 2023, Respondent and Johnson-Epps were both found guilty of murder and possession of a weapon during a violent crime by the jury. (R. p. 514, lines 6-22). Respondent and Johnson-Epps were sentenced to life imprisonment for murder. (R. p. 536, lines 5-12). Respondent challenged his conviction on appeal, and on April 23, 2025, the Court of Appeals reversed and remanded the case for a new trial. *State v. Carmichael*, No. 2022-001717, 2025 WL 326560 (S.C. Ct. App. Jan. 29, 2025). The Petition for Rehearing was denied on May 22, 2025, and the State then sought a Petition for Writ of Certiorari. Certiorari was granted on October 21, 2025, and this Brief of Petitioner now follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The Murder

At approximately 3:30 AM on September 13, 2019, Respondent, Johnson-Epps, and two black females arrived at the Tiger Mart gas station and convenience store in Florence, South Carolina. Kareem Jones (hereinafter “Jones”) and Victim were together in the gas station when they were approached by Respondent. When they turned down his invitation to smoke with him Respondent became angry and verbally threatened them. (R. p. 53, line 15; p. 120, lines 17-18; p. 154, line 23-p. 155, line 3; p. 37, line 22-p. 38, line 14).

Jones and Victim tried to ignore Respondent's outburst and diffuse the situation, opting to wait for the store clerk to serve them, but their efforts were to no avail. (R. p. 244, lines 2-10). Respondent then turned the incident violent by striking Jones. (R. p. 244, lines 24-25). Jones did not strike back, fearing that Respondent had a gun. (R. p. 245, lines 1-6). At this point, Respondent, Victim, and Jones were standing together. (R. p. 245, line 9). The trio proceeded to walk behind the store, with Johnson-Epps following them. (R. p. 245, lines 19-24). From the surveillance footage, the jury was able to hear Jones say "ain't no way you're doing this in front of the camera." (R. p. 246, lines 16-18). Once they were around the corner of the Tiger Mart, Johnson-Epps opened fire on Victim and Jones fled from the scene back to the victim's girlfriend's apartment where he and victim had previously visited. (R. p. 246, lines 22-24; p. 247, lines 12-18).

Dr. Presnell, a forensic pathologist at the Medical University of South Carolina in Charleston, testified that Victim was shot up to 9 times. (R. p. 419, line 16). The lethal shot was a gunshot to the back of the head that went through the brain and exited through the left temple. (R. p. 419, lines 19-20). She also testified that one of the shots that went through the stomach and intestines would also have killed Victim, but he was already dead when this shot went through his body. (R. p. 419, line 20-p. 420, line 1).

Evidence of Respondent's and Johnson-Epps's Guilt

The State produced a substantial amount of evidence linking Respondent and Johnson-Epps to the shooting at the Tiger Mart. The first piece of evidence was video surveillance from the Tiger Mart on that evening. According to the lead investigator in the case, Officer Justin Chatlosh, police were able to identify Respondent "almost immediately" from the video surveillance footage. (R. p. 149, lines 2-16). After identifying Respondent, officers used social media to identify the other three passengers in the car, including Johnson-Epps. (R. p. 375, lines 2-9). Warrants were

subsequently issued for the arrest of Respondent and Johnson-Epps. (R. p. 376, line 22-p. 377, line 11). When Johnson-Epps was apprehended, he had shaved off the dreadlock hairstyle he wore at the time of the murder. (R. p. 379, lines 21-25).

Witness testimony also identified Respondent and Johnson-Epps as the perpetrators of the murder. Kareem Jones was with the victim the night of the shooting. When the surveillance video, State's Exhibit 3, was played in court, Jones identified himself, Victim, "Tirik" (Johnson-Epps), and "Man-Man" (Respondent) as the individuals in the footage. (R. p. 246, lines 5-12).

Kami Mitchell, an associate of Respondent's who had "sexual dealings" with him, was with Respondent and Johnson-Epps the night of the murder. (R. p. 101, lines 6-20). She testified that Respondent was known to use drugs, something he had stated to Jones and Victim during his altercation with them. (R. p. 102, lines 7-8; *see* p. 87, lines 24-25). Mitchell detailed that Respondent and Johnson-Epps knew Jones and Victim from school. (R. p. 104-105). Mitchell testified that she attempted to corral Respondent back to the car so they could "go have sex". (R. p. 107, lines 6-7). Respondent, however, continued to escalate the situation, prompting Johnson-Epps and Mitchell to exit Mitchell's car. (R. p. 109, line 24-p. 110, line 8). Mitchell testified that Respondent and Johnson-Epps, both of whom she identified in court, went around the side of the building, which is where the murder eventually took place. (R. p. 111-116; *see* p. 117, lines 16-25). Tyrin Jones likewise testified that after Respondent struck Jones and proceeded to walk around the corner with Jones and Victim, Respondent exited the vehicle and followed. (R. p. 201, line 23-p. 202, line 17). She also identified Respondent and Johnson-Epps as the perpetrators of the murder. (R. p. 195-205).

Johnson-Epps's jeans were tested for DNA evidence. Using a two-scenario outcome—one scenario being the likelihood that the victim's blood was the one identified on the jeans and the

other being that the blood on the jeans came from another, unidentified individual— expert witness Zapata concluded that it was *990 octillion* times more likely that the victim contributed to the blood profile taken from the jeans than another individual. (R. p. 326, line 7-p. 327, line 3).

Jury Polling

After two hours of deliberation, the jury returned to court with a verdict. (R. p. 514, lines 1-2). Respondent was unanimously found guilty of murder and possession of a weapon during a violent crime. (R. p. 514, lines 6-14). Johnson-Epps was found guilty of the same crimes. (R. p. 514, lines 15-22).

Following the reading of the verdict, Judge Brown polled the jury by asking the jury members to raise their hand if the guilty verdict was and remained each juror's respective verdict. The record demonstrates that all jurors complied and that all twelve jurors raised their hand to individually confirm their verdict. (R. p. 514, line 23-p. 515, line 2). Defense counsel then moved for the court to poll the jurors individually. (R. p. 515, lines 5-8). A bench conference was held after Respondent's and Johnson-Epps's respective counsels motioned for individual polling. (R. p. 515, lines 11-13). It is unclear what occurred during the bench conference. However, after the conference, Judge Brown declined to poll the jury further. (R. p. 515, lines 14-21). Judge Brown stated that the raising of hands by each juror was "sufficient under the circumstances." (R. p. 515, lines 19-20). Further, he stated, "I've given an opportunity for them to respond pursuant to my question, and they've responded, and I think that's appropriate under the circumstances." (R. p. 515, lines 21-23).

The circumstances alluded to by the court are a likely reference to the numerous bizarre and alarming occurrences that took place during the trial. During pre-trial motions, and on the record, Mr. White stated that witnesses had been getting phone calls from "no caller ID numbers."

(R. p. 75, lines 15-16). Mr. White stated that the people on the other end of those calls would simply say “do not go,” after which they would hang up. (R. p. 75, lines 17-18). Phones also had to be confiscated from individuals in the gallery. (R. p. 137, line 12-p. 138, line 6).

One juror was dismissed because he was sent a Facebook message about the trial. The message read: “Eric, both [sic] them boys killed Mrs. Betty’s grandson, bug son. Shot him 11 times and one in the head. I had to leave and go to work. Please give them the justice they deserve.” (R. p. 140, lines 7-9). As a result, this juror was dismissed. (R. p. 177, lines 5-10).

Additionally, Mr. White alleged that Respondent used a jail phone to contact another individual. (R. p. 177, lines 18-19). He reportedly told another individual not to “worry about looking for Dee’s [a juror who had been excused] girlfriend anymore.” (R. p. 177, lines 20-21). Judge Brown then admonished the conduct of attendees, and potentially one of the defendants, stating:

Well, the Court is vitally concerned and tremendously disturbed about what may be going on here. Therefore, I want to do everything within my power to protect the integrity of this process and ensure to the best of my ability that there is no improper contact by anyone with these jurors, that these defendants receive a fair and impartial trial, and that this jury decide his case based upon the evidence and testimony presented in this courtroom, uninfluenced by anything outside of this courtroom.

(R. p. 178, lines 5-13). Clearly, Judge Brown was concerned throughout the trial with issues of jury tampering and potential interference.

One juror was dismissed after stating she did not feel comfortable serving on the jury. (R. p. 533, line 2). During questioning by Judge Brown, the Judge stated that she appeared to be “shaken to the point that she was crying as she talked to me.” (R. p. 533, lines 2-5). However, she stated that no one had reached out to her and Judge Brown respected that. (R. p. 533, lines 5-6). Nevertheless, she was released from the jury panel, and an alternate was seated. This alternate was

the one who received the Facebook message, which Judge Brown stated on the record did not come from either defendant based on the content. (R. p. 533, lines 7-9).

Moreover, because of these events, Judge Brown ordered that only immediate family would be allowed in the courtroom. (R. p. 533, lines 18-22). After that order, a “multitude of individuals” who were previously present did not reappear. (R. p. 533, lines 22-25). Judge Brown made the order to ensure that the proceedings were properly insulated from impropriety. (R. p. 534, line 1). The record showed that one individual listed as a sibling of Respondent was not, in fact, his brother, which was confirmed by law enforcement. (R. p. 534, lines 5-8).

Regarding the phone call from Respondent, Judge Brown stated that he was unable to make out the entirety of the phone conversation, but he did hear certain parts where Respondent was discussing the “jury or a juror.” (R. p. 534, lines 9-18). Judge Brown stated that the phone call from Respondent factored into his order to restrict access to the proceedings.

Additionally, after the case went to the jury, it was brought to the Judge’s attention that four rounds of ammunition were found in the men’s bathroom on the floor of the courthouse where the proceedings were being held. (R. p. 534, lines 19-22). This prompted Judge Brown to order law enforcement to evacuate the building and have all attendees come through “downstairs screening.” (R. p. 534, lines 22-24). The courtroom was thoroughly searched by law enforcement and both the US Marshall’s Office and local Sherriff’s Office brought in a dog to go through the courtroom. (R. p. 535, lines 3-9). Fortunately, no firearm was found at the courthouse. (R. p. 535, lines 9-10). In light of the many issues of potential impropriety, Judge Brown stated, “I’m putting all of that on the record in an effort to explain my limitations of who was in this courtroom as well as concerns I had throughout the trial.” (R. p. 535, lines 10-13). Judge Brown would ultimately

state after the trial that there were things that happened during the trial that he had never seen in his thirteen years on the bench. (R. p. 532, lines 7-11).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

In criminal cases, the appellate court sits to review errors of law only. *State v. Elwell*, 403 S.C. 606, 609, 743 S.E.2d 802, 804 (2013). Therefore, this Court is bound by the trial court's factual findings unless the appellant can demonstrate that the trial court's conclusions either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law. *Id.*

ARGUMENTS

- I. In the complete absence of evidence that a defendant was denied the right to a unanimous verdict, and where the jury was polled to ensure their verdict was unanimous, there can exist only *procedural* error. Such matters leave room for this Court to find harmless error and permit limited trial court discretion for extraordinary circumstances such as detriments to the jurors' feelings of safety and blunt attempts to interfere with the trial process.**

Structural errors demanding per se reversal are rare, and in the rare matters that they do exist, they only exist in the vestiges of a constitutional violation. *Weaver v. Massachusetts*, 582 U.S. 286, 290, 295, 137 S. Ct. 1899, 1905, 1907, 198 L. Ed. 2d 420 (2017) (noting that “the purpose of the structural error doctrine is to ensure insistence on certain basic, constitutional guarantees that should define the framework of any criminal trial”); *Neder v. United States*, 527 U.S. 1, 8, 119 S. Ct. 1827, 1833, 144 L. Ed. 2d 35 (1999) (quoting *Rose v. Clark*, 478 U.S. 570, 579, 106 S.Ct. 3101, 92 L.Ed.2d 460 (1986) (“[I]f the defendant had counsel and was tried by an impartial adjudicator, there is a strong presumption that any other [constitutional] errors that may have occurred are subject to harmless-error analysis.”)); *Johnson v. United States*, 520 U.S. 461, 468, 117 S. Ct. 1544, 1549, 137 L. Ed. 2d 718 (1997) (noting “we have found structural errors only in a very limited class of cases” and then itemizing only actual constitutional violations). Our current caselaw exceeds this parameter and insists that a structural and *per se* reversible error exists – not

just when a defendant’s constitutional right to a unanimous verdict is *denied* – but even when a guilty verdict is announced and polled to confirm unanimity, but not polled *further* under *prescribed procedures*. *Wright* established a polling procedure for trial courts to follow, but conceded that the procedure was not a constitutional right. Indeed, the procedure is not even mandatory; it is only required upon request by the defendant. *State v. Wright*, 499 S.C. 365, 103-104, 886 S.E.2d 468, 207-208 (Ct. App. 2020), *aff’d*, 439 S.C. 101, 886 S.E.2d 206 (2023). In both description and effect, the error of the trial court in this case was only procedural in nature and its deviation from *Wright* was only undertaken in light of the extraordinary circumstances surrounding juror safety and the need to prevent further interference. This case demonstrates the need for the trial court to retain a *limited* degree of discretion. Individual and verbal attestation by jurors may remain the preferred and instructed means of polling a jury, but *Wright* requires *modification*.

- a. The grant of jury polling when requested that effectively obtains individual confirmation from each juror but denies the specified method of polling can only be a procedural error that permits harmless error analysis. In light of the facts of this case, the trial court’s error was indeed harmless.**

Structural error, such that the error demands per se reversal without consideration of surrounding facts, does not attach to the utilized method of jury polling.¹ It applies to whether a unanimous guilty verdict *was rendered* – but nothing more. Even after *Wright*, polling is not mandatory unless requested, and there is no Sixth Amendment duty imposed upon counsel to demand polling after a guilty verdict is announced. What is in dispute are procedural mandates that have evolved within South Carolina jurisprudence, and while the right to polling in some form

¹ This Court apparently fully adopted the structural error approach in not modifying the prior opinion in *Wright* where the Court of Appeals wrote that jury polling “eludes neat classification” and that “*Weaver* offers a rational way out of our classification dilemma.” *State v. Wright*, 432 S.C. 365, 371, 852 S.E.2d 468, 471 (Ct. App. 2020), *aff’d*, 439 S.C. 101, 886 S.E.2d 206 (2023).

was first guaranteed in *State v. Linder*, 276 S.C. 304, 309, 278 S.E.2d 335, 338 (1981), little more was demanded. The *Linder* Court also gave no indications that further development of the law should result in a posture requiring per se reversible error. A review of *Linder* is first necessary to properly frame the holdings reached in *Wright*.

This Court in *Linder* correctly articulated that it is *the trial judge* that must be satisfied with the unanimity of the verdict. *State v. Linder*, 276 S.C. 304, 309, 278 S.E.2d 335, 338 (1981). This point, which inherently denotes a certain aspect of discretion in meeting that duty, did not receive focus in *Wright*, with the Court instead focusing upon the potentially incurable doubt of *the defendant*. *Linder* also defined polling as “a practice whereby the court determines from the jurors individually whether they assented and still assent to the verdict.” *Id.* While the focus in *Wright* became the meaning of the word “individually,” alongside the acknowledgment that *Linder* does not prescribe any particular polling process, too much has been made of the term. The Court in *Linder* presented this definition in juxtaposition of the efforts of the trial court, which sought no form of communication from the eleven other jurors at all, but instead relied solely upon the foreman to assent on the other jurors’ behalf’s – an effort that bore little to no distinction from the handing down of the verdict and signed sentencing recommendation that had already occurred. This decision was then followed by the trial court’s *refusal* to conduct a polling of the other eleven jurors *directly*. *Id.* at 337.

While in this instance the trial judge was satisfied, the *Linder* Court was within its discretion to establish new state law precedent that more was required in our state’s polling methods. As such, polling was rendered mandatory once requested and a court cannot rely upon the foreman to speak on behalf of the other jurors as a means of polling the jury. But crucially, nowhere in the *Linder* opinion does the Court rest on a constitutional violation, and nowhere does

it suggest that Linder was denied his right to a unanimous verdict. Instead, the Court very clearly established its own procedural rule in order “to dispel any doubt a party might entertain as to the propriety of a jury verdict as rendered.” *Id.* The goal of dispelling doubt was not inappropriate, and this Court did not err by pursuing the same endeavor in *Wright*, but error arose in the rigidity to which review was constrained. *Wright* has now compelled the Court of Appeals to apply this rigidity in error.

In summary, the holding in *Wright* correctly concedes the lack of a constitutional right to polling, it correctly identifies that *Linder* gave no directive as to how South Carolina courts should conduct a jury polling once requested, and though Petitioner doubts the *Linder* Court’s intention to so robustly rely upon the term “individually,” the Court of Appeals and this Court *did not err* by holding that individual polling requires verbal attestation from each juror as the state’s desired methodology; rather, the error arose when that directive was hitched to the per se reversible error framework of structural error, and the potential for harmless error analysis was foreclosed.

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