STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to the Court of Appeals
Appeal from Florence County
Honorable D. Craig Brown, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

Jan 28 2026

S.C. SUPREME COURT

THE STATE,

PETITIONER,

V.

QUINTERRIS JAVON CARMICHAEL,

RESPONDENT

Opinion No. 2025-UP-136 (S.C. Ct. App. Filed April 23, 2025)

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2025-001214

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

JOANNA K. DELANY
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT

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

Kentucky is in accord. In *Miles v. Commonwealth*, 256 S.W.3d at 46, the trial court did not ask each juror if this was his or her verdict, instead asking: "Is that the verdict of the jury?" while visually scanning the jury, and then asking three of six jurors whether it was his or her

verdict, with none of the jurors responding audibly. The Kentucky appellate court reasoned: “While a nonverbal response can be sufficient,” “the response must be to a question specifically posed to that responding juror and to him alone.” The Court held reversal was required where “the court polls more than one juror at a time, *i.e.*, any subset of the jury greater than one juror[.]” *Id. See also Powell v. Commonwealth*, 346 S.W.2d 731, 733 (Ky. 1961) (reversal required where the verdict was returned while the defendant’s attorney was temporarily absent, and where the judge “polled the jury as a body but not the individual jurors,” as the right to poll the jury “is a substantial legal right and to deny it without waiver is prejudicial error in felony cases”).⁵

Wisconsin and Alaska agree. In *State v. Wojtalewicz*, 379 N.W.2d 338, 339 (Wis. Ct. App. 1985), the verdict was read aloud and the trial court immediately stated to the jury: “I want to ask you all if this is the verdict of each of you and if there is any member of the jury panel who dissents from either one of the two verdicts that I’ve just read, I want you to raise your right hand at this time.” None of the jurors responded and the defendant asked for individual polling, which was refused. The Wisconsin appellate court discussed the importance of polling and held:

⁵ Courts overwhelmingly hold the refusal to permit the defendant the opportunity to request a poll (by accepting the verdict in his absence), is an error which requires reversal. *E.g.*, *Harris v. State*, 49 So. 458, 460 (Ala. 1907) (where verdict was received in absence of prisoner and the jury was discharged before he had the opportunity to poll, reversal and discharge on the ground of former jeopardy); *Sowell v. State*, 458 So.2d 375, 376 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 1984) (trial judge erred by permitting the jury to enter a sealed verdict and then depart from the courthouse, thereby denying appellant his right to poll the jury; the error cannot be harmless); *State v. Rodriguez*, 460 P.2d 711, 716-17 (Idaho 1969) (“[I]f a trial judge should elect to proceed without defense counsel being present, he has the duty to have the jury polled in order to assure that the defendant’s rights were not violated. The right to poll the jury is a substantial legal right and to deny it without waiver is prejudicial error in a felony case.”); *State v. Callahan*, 7 N.W. 603, 603 (Iowa 1880) (defendants’ deprivation of opportunity to poll the jury was a deprivation of a substantial right, and trial court erred in denying their motion to arrest the judgment and discharge them from custody; reversed).

“The question thus becomes whether the trial court’s question to the jurors satisfies the polling requirement . . . we adhere to the majority rule that it does not.” It further found the refusal was reversible error. *Id.*, 379 N.W.2d at 348-50. Alaska has also indicated the error would be reversible. *See Lee v. State*, 509 P.2d 1088, 1094 (Alaska 1973) (where the defendant was absent at the return of the verdict, and where the jury was asked generally if this was their verdict, the defendant was deprived of the opportunity to insist on an individual poll being taken, which affected his substantial rights and the error cannot be regarded as harmless).

However, a few courts have held or indicated that to justify reversal for a trial court’s refusal to individually poll the jurors where the jury was collectively polled, prejudice must be shown. In *People v. Masajo*, 49 Cal. Rptr. 2d 234, 236 (Cal. Ct. App. 1996), the jurors were asked: “each of you that voted for the specific verdict, in other words, guilty, would you raise your hand,” and everyone raised hands but the court refused the defendant’s request for individual polling. The California appellate court concluded the refusal to ask each juror if the verdict was his or hers was not reversible per se, noting the right to poll the jury is not of constitutional dimensions. *Id.*, 49 Cal. Rptr. 2d at 237. In *State v. Stephens*, 264 S.W.3d 719, 737 (Tenn. Crim. App. 2007), *abrogated on other grounds by State v. Beaty*, 2016 WL 3752968 (Tenn. Crim. App. 2016), the court *sua sponte* asked jurors to raise hands if the guilty verdict was the collective judgment of the entire jury and all jurors raised hands. The defendant did not request that the jury be polled or object to the method of polling. The Tennessee appellate court held the defendant waived any question about the verdict, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in its polling method, and any error in this regard would be harmless. *Id.*⁶

⁶ Relatedly, other appellate courts have held that where a trial court granted the request for polling, individually polled eleven jurors, but inadvertently failed to individually poll the twelfth juror (or the transcript did not capture the twelfth juror’s response), the error did not necessarily

Finally, a few courts have not reversed on this issue in a particular case but have instructed trial courts to conduct individual polling going forward. In *United States v. Carter*, 772 F.2d 66, 68 (4th Cir. 1985), the Court held: “Although we cannot conclude that the trial judge abused his discretion in polling the jurors by asking for a show of hands, we recommend that in the future, when a poll is conducted at the request of a party or on the court’s own motion, each juror be asked to respond individually whether he agrees with the verdict as announced. We find that such a procedure best fulfills the purpose of a jury poll.” In *Ragusa v. Lau*, 575 A.2d at 12, the New Jersey Supreme Court held: “Because plaintiff has not demonstrated that the poll here had the clear capacity to produce an unjust result, we reverse the judgment of the Appellate Division and reinstate the judgment of the trial court. Henceforth, however, trial courts should poll a jury by asking each juror whether the announced verdict is his or her verdict.” In *United States v. Miller*, 59 F.3d 417, 420 (3d Cir. 1995), the Third Circuit found that because the method of polling was in the discretion of the trial judge, there was no reversible error in refusing the

mandate reversal. See *Suggs v. Fitch*, 64 S.W.3d 658, 661 (Tex. App. 2001) (The failure to separately and individually poll each juror is subject to harmless error analysis: the only juror who signed the verdict certificate but was not polled was Irvin, the presiding juror who read the verdict to the court and represented the jury had returned the requisite number of signatures. Even though he was not polled, these circumstances strongly indicate Irvin concurred in the verdict and would have responded positively if asked whether this was his verdict.); *People v. Phillips*, 91 P.3d 476, 478 (Colo. App. 2004) (where jury collectively affirmed verdict, defendant’s subsequent request for individual polling was granted and eleven jurors affirmed their verdicts but the twelfth juror was inexplicably not polled and the defendant did not bring this problem to the court’s attention, “the unexplained failure individually to poll one of the jurors did not undermine the fundamental fairness of the trial”); *People v. Jackson*, 211 N.E.3d 414, 436 (Ill. 2022) (in considering plain error review, where judge polled eleven of twelve jurors but inadvertently failed to poll twelfth juror, and defendant’s counsel did not bring the error to the judge’s attention, error was not of such magnitude as to undermine the framework within which the trial proceeds and may be analyzed for prejudice); *State v. Bey*, 975 N.W.2d 511, 515-21 (Minn. 2022) (where jury was comprised of twelve, jury was asked collectively and affirmed verdict, jurors were then individually polled, judge stated “I think that’s everyone,” but transcript only reflected eleven responses, and no one raised any objections at the time, defendant’s right to a unanimous jury of twelve members was not violated and the error was not structural).

request for an individual poll where a collective poll was performed. However, it held: “In the future, whenever a party timely requests that the jury be polled, the procedure shall be conducted by inquiry of each juror individually, rather than collectively.” Notably, the federal cases in this category were decided before Fed. R. Crim. P. 31(d) was amended in 1998 to specify the method of polling the jury is no longer in the discretion of the district courts—an individual poll must be conducted when polling is requested or when polling is directed sua sponte by the court. *See* Fed. R. Crim. P. 31(d), notes to 1998 Amendments.

This Court has already held in *Linder* and *Wright* that an individual polling request must be honored. *Linder* and *Wright* are in keeping with the weight of authority from other jurisdictions.

iii. The error is not amenable to harmless error analysis.

The State argues the Court of Appeals’ analysis in *Wright*, and this Court’s affirmance, were “flawed.” *See* Brief of Petitioner at 13. Interestingly, this Court stated in its opinion that the Court of Appeals’ opinion in *Wright* was “well-reasoned.” *Wright*, 439 S.C. at 102, 886 S.E.2d at 207. In *Wright*, the Court of Appeals acknowledged the error in refusing an individual poll is one which “elude[s] neat classification.” *Wright*, 432 S.C. at 371, 852 S.E.2d at 471. The Court of Appeals concluded in *Wright* the error was structural or reversible per se. *Id.*, 432 S.C. At 371-72; 852 S.E.2d at 471-72. In affirming *Wright*, this Court agreed the error was reversible per se. *Wright*, 439 S.C. at 102, 886 S.E.2d at 207. This Court should adhere to its holdings in *Linder* and *Wright* instead of imposing a prejudice requirement and opening a Pandora’s Box of contacting jurors after the fact. *See United States v. Miller*, 59 F.3d at 420-21 (collective polling “may lead to unnecessary challenges to the finality of jury verdicts;” an “advantage to individual

polling is the likelihood that it will discourage post-trial efforts to challenge the verdict on allegations of coercion on the part of some jurors”).

As the Court of Appeals explained in *Wright*, this error “resembles both an error affecting the ‘framework within which the trial proceeds’ (structural error) and ‘an error in the trial process itself’ (trial error).” *Wright*, 432 S.C. at 371, 852 S.E.2d at 471. There, the Court of Appeals applied *Weaver v. Massachusetts*, 582 U.S. 286 (2017), and concluded the error was structural. *Wright*, 432 S.C. at 373, 852 S.E.2d at 472. The United States Supreme Court explained in *Weaver*, 582 U.S. at 295, there are three broad rationales informing why a particular error is structural. First, an error has been deemed structural in some instances if the right at issue is not designed to protect the defendant from erroneous conviction but instead protects some other interest. Second, an error has been deemed structural if the effects of the error are simply too hard to measure. Third, an error has been deemed structural if the error always results in fundamental unfairness. These categories are “not rigid,” and it is not necessary to meet all three categories for the error to be structural. For instance, an “error can count as structural even if it does not lead to fundamental unfairness in every case.” *Id.*, 582 U.S. at 295-96. All three rationales support the conclusion this error is structural.

First, the error was structural because the polling right protects not only the defendant from erroneous conviction but also protects some other interest: “the public’s interest in ensuring the outcome of the criminal trial process is reliable.” *Wright*, 432 S.C. at 371, 852 S.E.2d at 472. *See People v. Thornton*, 155 Cal.App.3d 845, 859 (Cal. Ct. App. 1984) (in “numerous” cases, “the processes of requiring the jury to orally acknowledge their verdict and express individual assents to it have revealed that the entire jury was mistaken in signing a particular verdict form, or that one or more jurors acceded to a verdict in the jury room but was unwilling to stand by it

in open court”); *Stewart v. People*, 23 Mich. at 77 (“there are many cases in which individual jurors refuse to assent on being polled”); *Bethea v. Commonwealth*, 809 S.E.2d at 693 (Individual polling is a protection “in place to ensure that a jury verdict represents the understanding and agreement of all the jurors.”).

The polling right protects not only the public’s interest in a reliable trial; it also relatedly protects jurors by preventing coercion. *See Humphries v. D.C.*, 174 U.S. at 194 (The object of a jury poll “is to ascertain for a certainty that each of the jurors approves of the verdict as returned; that no one has been coerced or induced to sign a verdict to which he does not fully assent.”); *People v. Wheat*, 889 N.E.2d at 1199 (“Through a jury poll, jurors may freely assent or dissent to the verdict without the fear, errors, or coercive influences that may have prevailed in the jury’s private collective deliberations.”); *Davis v. State*, 160 S.E.2d 697, 703 (N.C. 1968) (Polling enables the court and the parties to “ascertain with certainty that a unanimous verdict has been in fact reached and that no juror has been coerced or induced to agree to a verdict to which he has not fully assented.”).

The error was also structural under the second category of *Weaver*. The denial of the polling right “defies harmless error analysis.” *Wright*, 432 S.C. at 371, 852 S.E.2d at 472. The error in refusing to conduct individualized polling is one peculiarly unsuited to harmless error review. In *Duffy v. Vogel*, 905 N.E.2d at 1177-79, the New York Court of Appeals explained the failure to poll a jury may never be deemed harmless. “A verdict in a jury trial is emphatically not a judicial construct.” “Harmless error analysis in this context would amount to no more than a speculative exercise, impermissibly substituting the judgments of judges for those that would have been made and disclosed by jurors had their verdict been properly pronounced in open court.” *Id.* *See People v. Thornton*, 155 Cal.App.3d at 860 (“we are faced with error of

constitutional proportions whose actual prejudicial effect is insusceptible of calculation”); *State v. Pare*, 755 A.2d at 194 (The “denial of a valid polling request is not amenable to harmless error analysis because there is no way to ascertain the effects of a poll not taken . . . the denial of a timely request to poll is of substantial and unique magnitude.”). As the Court of Appeals explained in *Wright*, 432 S.C. at 371-72, 852 S.E.2d at 472,

To find the error harmless, we would have to conclude the lack of a valid poll was an “error which occurred during the presentation of the case to the jury, and which may therefore be quantitatively assessed in the context of other evidence presented in order to determine whether the error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.” We cannot say the lack of a valid poll contributed to the verdict, as the error occurred after a verdict was announced. **It would be an odd end to the matter to deem it harmless, for in effect we would be presuming the unanimity of the verdict while simultaneously denying the defendant the only real right he has to check behind the presumption.**

(emphasis added) (citation omitted) (quoting *Arizona v. Fulminante*, 499 U.S. 279, 307–08 (1991)). Had the judge individually polled the jury, any complaints about irregularities in the jury’s answers could be assessed by the appellate courts. Because the judge denied the request for individual polling, however, the error was structural.

Third, the error was structural because it undermined the systemic requirements of a fair and open judicial process. In *Wright*, 432 S.C. at 372, 852 S.E.2d at 472, the Court of Appeals reasoned that “the denial of the polling right caused fundamental unfairness by undermining the systemic requirements of a fair and open judicial process. If an announced verdict lacks unanimity in fact, then the harm to the integrity and fundamental legitimacy of the entire trial is total.” (cleaned up). Victims, defendants, and the public all have an interest in a fair and open process and the integrity of criminal trials, and in finality. As discussed *supra*, by ensuring verdicts are not the product of coercion but represent the verdict of each juror, individual polling